71559-3 71559-3

FILED

September 29, 2015 Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington

No. 71559-3-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

SCOTTYE LEON MILLER,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

MAUREEN M. CYR Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The trial court abused its discretion in admitting evidence for the purpose of establishing the victim's state of mind.
- 2. Cumulative evidentiary errors together deprived Mr. Miller of his constitutional right to a fair trial.
- 3. The trial court erred in relying on the aggravating factor that the offense involved domestic violence and was part of an ongoing pattern of psychological or physical abuse manifested by multiple incidents over a prolonged period of time.
- 4. The phrase "psychological abuse" in the ongoing pattern of abuse aggravator is unconstitutionally vague in violation of due process.
- 5. The jury instruction informing the jury that "prolonged period of time" means more than a few weeks was an unconstitutional comment on the evidence.
- 6. The State did not prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr.

 Miller committed the crime shortly after release from incarceration.

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Evidence of the victim's state of mind is generally not relevant in a murder prosecution. Did the trial court abuse its discretion

in admitting highly prejudicial evidence for the impermissible purpose of establishing the victim's state of mind, where her state of mind was not relevant?

- 2. Cumulative evidentiary errors may deprive a defendant of a fair trial, even if any one of the errors is not sufficient in itself to justify reversal of the conviction. Was Mr. Miller denied a fair trial, where the trial court repeatedly and erroneously admitted evidence that had a highly prejudicial and unfair cumulative effect?
- 3. The trial court may not rely on a defendant's prior criminal acts to impose an exceptional sentence, if those acts were already taken into account in establishing the standard sentence range. Did the trial court err in relying on Mr. Miller's prior criminal acts in imposing an exceptional sentence, where those acts were already taken into account in establishing the standard range?
- 4. Is the phrase "ongoing pattern of psychological abuse" in the exceptional sentence aggravator unconstitutionally vague in violation of due process?
- 5. A jury instruction informing the jury that "prolonged period of time" means more than a few weeks is an unconstitutional comment

on the evidence. Did the trial court impermissibly comment on the evidence by providing such an instruction?

6. Did the State fail to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Miller committed the offense "shortly after being released from incarceration," where the current offense was committed more than two weeks after his release from incarceration?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Scottye Miller and Patricia "Tricia" Patricelli had an on-again, off-again, romantic relationship for about four years. 11/26/13RP 147; 12/11/13RP 106; 12/11/13RP 106. Ms. Patricelli had two young daughters: Khalani, who was 13 years old at the time of trial, and Niyerrah, who was 10 years old at the time of trial. 11/26/13RP 145; 12/10/13RP 169. Mr. Miller had a good relationship with the girls, who thought of him as a father and called him "dad." 11/26/13RP 147; 12/10/13RP 171; 12/11/13RP 12.

Ms. Patricelli and her daughters had moved from Kent into an apartment in Auburn shortly before the events at issue in this case.

11/26/13RP 150. Mr. Miller lived with them for periods of time, both in Kent and in Auburn. 11/26/13RP 148; 12/10/13RP 173; 12/11/13RP 12. He kept many of his things at their apartment, including his

clothing, a television, and important documents such as his birth certificate and Supplemental Security Income card. 11/26/13RP 38; 12/02/13RP 63; 12/11/13RP 49, 51, 108. Mr. Miller stayed with Ms. Patricelli during some of the days leading up to the incident. 11/26/13RP 6-8; 12/02/13RP 66-68; 12/11/13RP 107.

Mr. Miller and Ms. Patricelli often got along well and would do things with the girls together as a family. 12/11/13RP 48, 107. But sometimes they argued and Mr. Miller would become physically violent with her. 12/10/13RP 174; 12/11/13RP 107. On occasion, Mr. Miller threatened Ms. Patricelli, in order to get his point across when she was not listening. 12/11/13RP 111; 12/12/13RP 71. He did not intend to carry out the threats. 12/11/13RP 112-13. He acknowledged that threatening Ms. Patricelli in that manner was generally not an effective strategy. 12/12/13RP 71.

On the day before the incident, Mr. Miller and Ms. Patricelli argued at her apartment. Mr. Miller was angry because he thought she was exchanging text messages or doing something else with another guy. He thought, if she did not want him around and wanted to be with someone else, she should just say so and he would leave. Before the

argument, they were getting along well. Mr. Miller left the apartment in anger. 12/11/13RP 119-21.

That night, Mr. Miller stayed in a closet on Ms. Patricelli's balcony throughout the night. 12/02/13RP 15-16; 12 /09/13RP 168; 12/11/13RP 137-39. He spent the night there because he had nowhere else to go and had no money. 12/11/13RP 125, 127.

While he was in the closet, Mr. Miller overheard Ms. Patricelli talking to her friend Rayford Varnado on the balcony about a new man she was seeing named Nate. 12/02/13RP 19-20; 12/11/13RP 124.

Again Mr. Miller became angry that she was seeing another man while still in a relationship with Mr. Miller. 12/11/13RP 126. After she went inside, he called her on her cell phone and the two argued, each of them threatening the other. 12/02/13RP 69, 75-76; 12/11/13RP 27, 30-31, 122-23, 129-36. Mr. Miller also sent several text messages to Mr. Varnado, saying he was angry that Ms. Patricelli was cheating on him and that he was going to hurt her. 12/02/13RP 25-26, 102-03; 12/09/13RP 155. Although Mr. Miller was angry and upset and made those threats, in fact he had no plan or intention to carry them out or do anything in particular. 12/11/13RP 136.

The next morning, October 30, 2012, at around 8 a.m., Ms.

Patricelli and her two daughters left the apartment and she drove them to her mother's house, which was a short distance away. 11/26/13RP 154, 157. Khalani could not recall later whether any of them locked the front door behind them. 12/11/13RP 41. After all, Ms. Patricelli's friend Mr. Varnado was still inside on the couch, where he had spent the night. 12/11/13RP 41. Ms. Patricelli dropped off Khalani at her mother's place, then drove her younger daughter to the bus stop. 12/11/13RP 42. She told Khalani she was going to go back home, take a shower and put on fresh clothes before going to work. 11/26/13RP 155; 12/11/13RP 37-40. Ms. Patricelli then drove back home. 11/26/13RP 150.

Meanwhile, when Mr. Miller heard Ms. Patricelli leave the apartment, he went inside, intending to take a shower. 12/11/13RP 139. He was no longer angry about the night before and had calmed down. 12/11/13RP 139; 12/12/13RP 81. He entered through the front door, which was unlocked. 12/11/13RP 140-41. He thought Ms. Patricelli was at work and would not return until later that afternoon. 12/11/13RP 141-42. That day, Tuesday, was a regular work day for Ms. Patricelli. 12/11/13RP 67-68. Mr. Miller routinely showered at

her place. 12/11/13RP 141. His intent in entering the apartment was to take a shower, collect his things, and leave. 12/11/13RP 141, 159, 164.

Mr. Miller turned on the shower in the master bathroom to warm it up. 12/10/13RP 155; 12/11/13RP 142-47. He then heard Ms. Patricelli unexpectedly enter the apartment. She saw him and asked what he was doing there. 12/11/13RP 147. He said he was going to take a shower and then leave. She told him to leave now but he refused, insisting on taking a shower. The two argued. 12/11/13RP 148. As they argued, Ms. Patricelli walked toward him and pushed him out of the way, saying she had to get dressed and get ready for work. She said several angry, threatening and unsettling things that made him angry and upset. 12/11/13RP 150. He went to the kitchen and grabbed a knife, without thinking about what he was doing. 12/11/13RP 151-52. He then went to the bathroom and opened the door; Ms. Patricelli screamed and moved toward the window. 12/11/13RP 152. Mr. Miller stabbed her several times, although he could not remember anything after the first stab wound. 12/11/13RP 153. He did not feel anything but just remembers seeing blood on his hands. 12/11/13RP 154. He did not mean to kill Ms. Patricelli. 12/11/13RP 67. Later it was determined that she died of multiple stab wounds. 12/10/13RP 95-96.

Mr. Varnado, who was sleeping on the couch, woke up when he heard a light scream and then a thump on the floor in the other room. 12/02/13RP 34. He walked toward the master bedroom, heard the shower running, and saw Ms. Patricelli on the floor of the bathroom in a pool of blood. 12/02/13RP 35-36. Mr. Varnado then saw Mr. Miller and asked what he was doing. He told him to leave and said he was going to call 911. 12/02/13RP 36-37; 12/11/13RP 155. Mr. Miller stood for a moment, then realized he should do as instructed. He grabbed his gloves and the knives, put on shoes and socks, and left. He felt sad that he had hurt Ms. Patricelli. 12/02/13RP 38; 12/11/13RP 156-58.

Mr. Miller dropped two knives, a pair of gloves, and Ms. Patricelli's cell phone on the ground nearby. 1 12/02/13RP 126-29, 135; 12/03/13(a.m.)RP 57-62; 12/11/13RP 159. He was not thinking about what he was doing. 12/11/13RP 160.

Mr. Miller walked to a bus stop. Again, he was not thinking and did not know why he went to the bus stop or why he did not get on a bus. 12/11/13RP 160-61. While at the bus stop, he called Mr. Varnado

¹ Mr. Miller routinely carried a pair of gloves around with him in his back pocket. He wore gloves often because he had a skin condition that caused his hands to sweat excessively. 12/11/13RP 19; 12/11/13RP 77; 12/11/13RP 118.

to check on Ms. Patricelli, hoping she was all right; he did not think she would be dead. 12/11/13RP 161-62. Mr. Varnado did not answer. A short time later, the police found Mr. Miller at the bus stop and arrested him. 12/03/13(a.m.)RP 32-34.

Mr. Miller was charged with one count of first degree premeditated murder, RCW 9A.32.030(1)(a), committed with a deadly weapon. CP 14-15. The State also alleged two aggravating factors: (1) that the offense involved domestic violence and "was part of an ongoing pattern of psychological, physical or sexual abuse^[2] of the same victim or multiple victims manifested by multiple incidents over a prolonged period of time"; and (2) that Mr. Miller committed the offense "shortly after being released from incarceration." CP 14-15.

Prior to trial, the State moved to admit evidence of prior disputes between Mr. Miller and Ms. Patricelli and prior bad acts by Mr. Miller. Defense counsel objected. 11/20/13RP 26-30, 46-49. The court ruled much of the evidence was admissible under ER 404(b) to prove motive and premeditated intent.³ 11/20/13RP 56; CP 421.

² Later, the State abandoned the "pattern of sexual abuse" allegation and the jury was instructed to find only whether the incident was part of an ongoing pattern of "psychological or physical abuse." CP 170.

³ Ultimately, the jury was instructed it could consider evidence of Mr. Miller's actions during prior incidents in February 2011 and

At trial, Mr. Miller testified and admitted killing Ms. Patricelli. 12/12/13RP 83. But he explained he did not intend to kill her when he entered the apartment; at that point he was no longer angry about the argument they had the night before . 12/12/13RP 80-81. He killed her during the heat of the argument they had that day, without meaning to. 12/11/13RP 151. He had no pre-formed plan to kill and did not remember anything after the first stab wound. 12/11/13RP 152-53.

The jury was instructed it could consider the lesser charge of second degree murder. CP 146. Defense counsel argued that Mr. Miller did not premeditate the killing. 12/12/13RP 101-24.

The jury found Mr. Miller guilty of first degree murder as charged, while armed with a deadly weapon. CP 154, 157.

At a separate, later proceeding, the State presented evidence to support the two alleged aggravating factors to the jury. The State presented evidence that Mr. Miller had 15 prior convictions for domestic violence, against both Ms. Patricelli and his ex-wife Angel Miller. 12/16/13RP 86. The State also relied on testimony presented at trial regarding two prior incidents against Ms. Patricelli, which

December 2011 only for the purpose of considering intent and premeditation and for no other purpose. CP 141.

10

1

occurred in February 2011 and December 2011, and for which Mr. Miller had already received criminal convictions. 12/16/13RP 89.

In addition, the State presented testimony from Mr. Miller's community corrections officer, who testified that he had been released from prison on October 15, 2012. 12/16/13RP 92.

The jury found "the offense was part of an ongoing pattern of psychological or physical abuse of multiple victims manifested by multiple incidents over a prolonged period of time." CP 158, 170. The jury also found that Mr. Miller committed the offense "shortly after being released from incarceration." CP 159, 167.

At sentencing, the court found Mr. Miller's offender score was 7 and the standard sentence range was 338 to 450 months, plus 24 months for the deadly weapon enhancement, for a total range of 362 to 474 months. CP 206. The court imposed an exceptional sentence of 576 months, plus 24 months for the deadly weapon enhancement, for a total sentence of 600 months. CP 208, 213.

Additional facts are set forth in the relevant argument sections below.

D. ARGUMENT

- 1. The trial court abused its discretion in admitting extensive and prejudicial evidence for the purpose of establishing Ms. Patricelli's state of mind because her state of mind was not relevant to the prosecution.
 - a. The trial court admitted, over objection, several out-of-court statements made by Ms. Patricelli for the purpose of establishing her state of mind.

First, a Kent police officer testified that he responded to a 911 call at Ms. Patricelli's apartment in February 2011. 12/05/13RP 148-52. When he and his partner arrived, they saw Mr. Miller standing on Ms. Patricelli's apartment balcony, peering through the sliding glass door. 12/05/13RP 152. When the officer contacted Ms. Patricelli at the front door, she said, "please don't tell him that I called." 12/05/13RP 155. She said she did not want Mr. Miller to know she had called, and seemed very nervous and scared about the possibility that he might find out. 12/05/13RP 156. When the officer told her he could not guarantee that Mr. Miller would not find out, she started to cry and said, "I should not have called." 12/05/13RP 157.

Second, the trial court admitted a text message from Ms.

Patricelli sent to Mr. Miller on the night before the incident, in which

she accused him of "stalking, harassing and threatening me." 12/09/13RP 3-5.

Third, the court admitted Mr. Varnado's testimony that, on the night before the incident, Ms. Patricelli received a text from Mr. Miller about "Nate." 12/02/13RP 20. Ms. Patricelli said to Mr. Varnado that Mr. Miller must be somewhere very close to her apartment because he knew about Nate and must have overheard them talking about him. 12/02/13RP 21. Mr. Varnado said Ms. Patricelli then checked the doors and windows and looked scared. 12/02/13RP 22.

Fourth, the court permitted Tasha White, a co-worker of Ms. Patricelli's, to testify that Ms. Patricelli would sometimes ask her to walk with her through her apartment when she came home from work because she was afraid that Mr. Miller might be hiding inside.

12/09/13RP 104-07, 111-12, 116. The court also permitted Ms. White to testify that sometimes Mr. Miller would send her threatening letters at work and that Mr. Patricelli said the letters made her afraid.

12/09/13RP 125-26.

Fifth, Khalani testified that, after the February 2011 incident, Ms. Patricelli told her that she was afraid because Mr. Miller had climbed up to her balcony. 12/11/13RP 5.

Sixth, Khalani testified that, shortly before Mr. Miller returned home in October 2012, Ms. Patricelli told her that she was nervous and a little relieved that he was coming home. 12/11/13RP 11.

b. The trial court's rulings were erroneous because Ms. Patricelli's state of mind was not relevant and because some of the statements related Mr. Miller's actions that purportedly caused her to feel afraid.

Generally, an out-of-court statement offered for the truth of the matter asserted is not excluded by the hearsay rule if it is "[a] statement of the declarant's then existing state of mind, emotion, sensation, or physical condition (such as intent, plan, motive, design, mental feeling, pain, and bodily health)." ER 803(a)(3). But although "statements offered as circumstantial evidence of the declarant's state of mind are not hearsay, such statements must be relevant to be admissible." State v. Stubsjoen, 48 Wn. App. 139, 146, 738 P.2d 306 (1987); ER 402 ("Evidence which is not relevant is not admissible.").

It is well-established that, in a murder prosecution, evidence of the decedent's state of mind is not relevant or admissible, unless her state of mind is put at issue due to the nature of the defense raised. The controlling case in Washington is <u>State v. Parr</u>, 93 Wn.2d 95, 606 P.2d 263 (1980). There, Parr was charged with murdering his girlfriend by

gunshot. <u>Id</u>. at 96-97. At trial, the girlfriend's brother testified that six months before the incident, his sister told him Parr had threatened her with a gun and she was afraid of him. <u>Id</u>. at 98. The Washington Supreme Court held that a victim's expressions of fear of the defendant are ordinarily not relevant or admissible in a criminal case. <u>Id</u>. at 102-03. Such evidence is not relevant to prove the defendant's intent or conduct and carries great potential of unfair prejudice, particularly in a murder case where the defendant has no opportunity to cross-examine the declarant. <u>Id</u>. at 100-03.

Evidence of the decedent's state of mind is relevant and admissible only if her state of mind is put at issue by the specific defense raised. If the defense is accident or self-defense, evidence regarding the decedent's state of mind may be probative of the question whether the victim was likely to act in the manner claimed by the defendant. Id. at 103. In Parr, for instance, the evidence was relevant and admissible to rebut Parr's claim that the gun went off accidentally during a struggle after the victim grabbed for the gun. Id. at 96, 106-07. Her state of mind had some bearing on the question whether she was likely to have reached for the gun. Id. at 106. If not for the claim

of accident, however, the evidence would have been inadmissible. <u>Id</u>. at 100-03.

Moreover, even if the decedent's state of mind *is* somehow relevant to rebut the defense, the court may not admit statements about the conduct of the defendant that incited her state of mind, due to the potential for unfair prejudice. <u>Id</u>. at 104. The <u>Parr</u> court explained,

In the interest of protecting both the State's right to disprove accident or self-defense and the defendant's right to a fair trial, free of unnecessary and prejudicial evidence which is not subject to cross-examination, the trial court should allow the State to prove the victim's declarations about his or her own state of mind, where relevant, but should not permit it to introduce testimony which describes conduct or words of the defendant.

Id.; see also State v. Sublett, 156 Wn. App. 160, 199, 231 P.3d 231 (2010), aff'd, 176 Wn.2d 58, 292 P.3d 715 (2012) ("even if [the decedent's] state of mind were relevant, statements discussing the conduct of another person that may have created the declarant's state of mind are inadmissible under ER 803(a)(3).") (citing Parr, 93 Wn.2d at 104).

Another controlling case is <u>State v. Cameron</u>, 100 Wn.2d 520, 674 P.2d 650 (1983). There, Cameron was charged with premeditated first degree murder of his stepmother. <u>Id</u>. at 521. He admitted stabbing her but claimed he was insane at the time. Id. At trial, the

stepmother's daughter testified that two months before the incident, her mother told her she was having problems with Cameron. Id. at 530.

The victim's ex-husband also testified she had told him she was afraid of Cameron. Id. at 529. The Supreme Court concluded the evidence was not admissible because it was not relevant to prove Cameron's premeditation or his thought process and was not probative to prove any other material issue in the case. Id. at 531. Moreover, the error in admitting the evidence was not harmless because "the potential for misuse of the testimony or misunderstanding of its application is too great, carrying with it a substantial likelihood of prejudice to petitioner's case." Id.

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