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

C. ARGUMENT

L THE ADMISSION OF PATRICELLI'S OUT-OF-
COURT STATEMENTS DOES NOT REQUIRE
REVERSAL.

The State moved in lifnine to introduce prior bad acts of Miller

under ER 404(b), arguing that they were admissible to show

premeditation, intent, motive, res gestae, and the nature of his relationship
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with Patricelli. CP 30-35; 11/20/13RP 32-45. The court allowed some of

the evidence, but excluded a significant portion as too remote in time.

CP 417-21; 11/20/13RP 51-59; 12/4/13RP 88-91. The admitted prior acts

included threats to kill Patricelli and assaultive behavior toward her.

CP 417-21. Miller does not challenge the court's ER 404(b) ruling on

appeal.

Later during trial, as part of the ER 404(b) evidence, and as part of

Miller's actions directly before the homicide, the trial court allowed six

out-of-court statements made by Patricelli, relating to her fear of Miller or

her then-existing thoughts about their relationship. Miller contends these

statements were erroneously admitted under the "state of mind" exception

to the hearsay rule, arguing that Patricelli's state of mind was not relevant.

Miller's argument fails. First, as to all but one of the statements

Miller complains of, he objected at trial on hearsay grounds alone and did

not properly preserve an objection as to relevance. Second, Patricelli's

statements made to Varnado and her statements during a text message

exchange with Miller the night before the murder were properly admitted

to prove premeditation, as res gestae, and to provide context to Miller's

own properly-admitted statements. Third, Patricelli's prior statements that

she feared Miller were properly admitted because Miller placed her state

of mind at issue when he denied that he premeditated her murder and
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claimed that he killed her in the heat of the moment after she threatened

and belittled him. Finally, even if one or more of the statements were

erroneously admitted, any error was harmless in light of the minor

significance of the statements and the overwhelming evidence that Miller

premeditated the crime.

a. Relevant Facts.

The first out-of-court statement Miller complains of related to the

properly-admitted ER 404(b) incident in which Patricelli called the police

because Miller had scaled her apartment wall to get to her third-floor.

balcony. CP 418, 420. When the police arrived, Patricelli told them

words to the effect of, "Please don't tell him that I called," "Please don't

rYiention my name in the police report," and "I should not have called."

12/5/13RP 155-60.

Second, the trial court admitted a text from Patricelli to Miller the

night before she was murdered in which she characterized Miller's

behavior as "stalking, harassing and threatening." Ex. 349, pg. 4;

12/9/13RP 3-5.

Third, Varnado was permitted to testify that Patricelli told him the

night before her murder that Miller must be nearby because he knew about

"Nate" and must have overheard them talking. 12/2/13RP 2L Varnado
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also testified that after she made the statement, Patricelli checked the

window and door locks and was scared. 12/2/13RP 22.

Fourth, Tasha White, a co-worker of Patricelli's, was allowed to

testify that Patricelli had sometimes asked White to accompany her home

after work and walk through her apartment to make sure Miller was not

hiding there. 12/9/13RP 116. White also testified that Miller sent

threatening letters to Patricelli's job and that Patricelli said she was afraid.

12/9/13RP 125-26.

Fifth, K.M. testified that after the ER 404(b) incident, Patricelli

told her she was afraid because Miller had climbed up to her balcony.

12/11/13RP 5

Finally, Miller complains that K.M. was allowed to testify that

Patricelli said she was "nervous and a little relieved" that Miller was

coming home in October of 2012. 12/11/13RP 11.

b. Miller Has Failed To Preserve A Relevancy
Challenge To Five Of The Six Statements.

First, Miller has failed to preserve a challenge to the relevancy of

all of the statements (except for those made to Tasha White) because he

failed to properly object at trial.

In order to challenge a trial court's admission of evidence, a party

must raise a timely and specific objection at trial. State v. Grav, 134 Wn.
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App. 547, 557, 138 P.3d 1123 (2006), rev. denied, 160 Wn.2d 1008

(2007). See also ER 103(a)(1) (error may nat be predicated upon a ruling

admitting evidence unless a timely objection is made, stating the specific

ground of obj ection, if the specific ground was not apparent from the

context); State v. Gulov, 104 Wn.2d 412, 422, 705 P.2d 1182 (1985} ("An

objection which does not specify the particular ground upon which it is

based is insufficient to preserve the question far appellate revie~~~."). The

reason for this rule is to afford the trial court with an opportunity to correct

errors, thereby avoiding unnecessary appeals and retrials. Smith v.

Shannon, 100 Wn.2d 26, 37, 666 P.2d 351 (1983).

Miller did not object at all when Officer Rankin testified that

Patricelli said, "Please don't tell him I called." 12/5/13RP 155. Later,

when Rankin repeated the testimony and said, "She indicated that she did

not want the defendant to know that she had been the one who had called,"

Miller objected on the basis of hearsay. 12/5/13RP 156. He did object as

to relevance. As such, he cannot assert on appeal that her statements (or

her state of mind when she made them) were irrelevant.3

3 It is far from clear that the court even admitted Patricelli's comments on the basis of ER
803(a)(3)'s state of mind exception. The court may well have believed that her requests
to not tell Miller that she had called the police were not "assertions" offered as evidence
to prove such assertion as fact, and thus not hearsay at all. See ER 801(a)(1), (c). Or,
given Pah-icelli's demeanor at the time she made the statements, the court could have
believed that they were excited utterances under ER 801(a)(2). See 12/5/13RP 156-57
(Patricelli was initially pleading with the officer and then became visibly upset and began
to 'cry).
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Likewise, Miller did not object to Patricelli's text about Miller's

"stalking, harassing, and threatening" behavior on the basis of relevancy.

Rather, he objected only on the basis of "hearsay." 12/9/13RP 3-4.

Further, Miller did not initially object to Varnado's testimony that

Patricelli told him that Miller must have overheard her talking about

"Nate:" 12/2/13RP 20. Moments later, when the State elicited additional

evidence about her statements, Miller objected, but again, the only basis

he stated was that the evidence "calls for hearsay." Id.

When K.M. testified that Patricelli told her she was afraid because

Miller had climbed up to her balcony, Miller only objected on the basis of

"hearsay." 12/11/13RP 5. And finally, K.M.'s testimony about

Patricelli's feelings about Miller returning home drew only a "hearsay"

objection. 12/11/13RP 11.

Because Miller did not raise a concern about the relevance of

Patricelli's state of mind regarding any of this evidence at trial, this Court

should not consider his arguments for the first time on appeal.4

c. The Evidence Was Properly Admitted.

The trial court's decision to admit or exclude evidence is reviewed

for an abuse of discretion. State v. Athan, 160 Wn.2d 354, 382, 158 P.3d

4 Miller did argue that Patricelli's state of mind at the time she made the out-of-court
statements to Tasha White was not relevant. 12/9/13RP 113. Thus, he has preserved his

claim as it pertains to that evidence.
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27 (2007). To constitute an abuse of discretion, a trial court's decision

must be manifestly unreasonable or based on untenable grounds or for

untenable reasons. Id.

Out-of-court statements offered to prove the truth of the matter

asserted are generally inadmissible as hearsay unless they fall under a

recognized exception to the hearsa~~ rule. ER 801, 802. Statements

pertaining to the deciarant's then-existing state of mind are not excluded

by the hearsay rule. ER 803(a)(3). However, evidence of the declarant's

state of mind must be relevant to a material issue of fact before the jury

ER 401, 402; State v. Cameron, 100 Wn.2d 520, 531, 674 P.2d 650 (1983)

(citing State v. Parr, 93 Wn. App. 95, 98-104, 606 P.2d 263 (1980} and

United States v. Brown, 490 F.2d 758 (D.C. Cir. 1973)).

For example, in a homicide case, the deceased's state of mind may

be relevant where the defense is accident or self-defense. See ~, Parr,

93 Wn.2d at 103, 106 (where defendant claimed the victim died by

accident when he was defending himself against her, testimony that she

had previously stated her fear of him was admissible). In other cases, the

deceased's fear may not be relevant. See ems., Cameron, 100 Wn.2d at

530 (defendant stabbed his mother-in-law over 70 times and was later

found barefoot, with no shirt on and wearing women's spandex pants. The
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victim's prior statement that she feared the defendant was not relevant to

the defendant's insanity defense).

This is not to say that a homicide defendant must assert a claim of

self-defense or accident in order for the victim's state of mind to be

relevant. In Athan, supra, a homicide case, the trial court properly

exercised its discretion to admit the victim's statements under ER

803(a)(3) because the defendant put her state of mind at issue. 160 Wn.2d

at 383. There, the victim's nude body was found in a cardboard box in a

neighborhood frequented by both Athan and the victim. A ligature was

found around her neck. Semen was found in the victim's vagina, with

DNA matching Athan. Id. at 362. At trial, Athan's theory of the case was

that he had consensual sex with the victim, but that she was murdered later

by someone else. Id. at 378-79. The State was allowed to introduce two

hearsay statements of the victim that indicated she had no romantic

feelings for Athan. Id. at 381. Athan argued that the victim's state of

mind was not relevant because he was not raising a claim of accident or

self-defense. Id. The Supreme Court disagreed and determined that by

suggesting that he had a romantic relationship with the victim, Athan

made the victim's "statements concerning her feelings toward Athan

relevant." Athan, at 383.
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Like the defendant in Athan, Miller placed Patricelli's state of

mind at issue when he denied that he premeditated her murder and claimed

that he killed her as an unplanned response to her threats and insults. See

11/26/13RP 16-17; 12/1 U13RP 150-51; 12/12/13RP 64. Miller presented

evidence that Patricelli insulted and threatened him, and attempted to paint

a portrait of the dysfunction that existed in their relationship as two-sided.

12/11/13RP 58-61, 135-36, 149-51; 12/12/13RP 108-09, 117-18. As such,

Patricelli's expressed fear of Miller was relevant to disprove his claim that

the murder was an unplanned response to her provocation during the heat

of an argument.

The trial court correctly recognized that the history of conflict and

abuse in Miller`s and Patricelli's relationship was relevant to prove his

intentions and motives when he killed her. See 11/20/13RP 55. The court

noted that this was especially true as it related to the testimony from Tasha

White that Patricelli had previously asked her to accompany Patricelli

home from work and walk through her apartment because she was afraid

Miller might be hiding inside. See 12/9/13RP 8, 104-07, 111-12, 116.

Despite the evidence found under Patricelli's bed that indicated Miller had

let himself into the apartment and hidden there, Miller denied lying in wait

for Patricelli, and claimed that he walked in the unlocked front door to

take a shower.
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As such, Patricelli's statements to White that she feared Miller

would hide in her apartment, her statements to her daughter K.M. that she

was afraid because Miller had scaled the apartment wall to get onto her

third-floor balcony, and her statements to Varnado that she thought Miller

was lurking outside the night before her murder, were all relevant to rebut

Miller's claim that he did not lie in wait to kill Patricelli. And Patricelli's

expressed fear of Miller generally, as demonstrated by the history of their

relationship, was logically relevant to rebut his proffered defense that his

threats were empty and that she provoked his rage.

Miller also complains about Patricelli's text message the night

before the homicide, in which she characterized his behavior as "stalking,

harassing, and threatening." But the text was admissible because it was

relevant to show Miller's state of mind preceding the murder

(premeditation), and provided context to the text message conversation

that Miller and Patricelli had shortly before he killed her. 12/9/13RP 5-6.

Patricelli's entire text read:

Got me fucked up ain't no 1 cheated on a ur stupid as fuck
I was Tryin to make it Work but ur crazy Stalkin, harassin n
threatenin me I'm not Join shit n u know that n ya heart ur
just Tryin to make problems out of nothing so go fo it idc
ne mo.
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Ex. 349, pg. 4. Indeed, Miller replied to her text with a direct threat:

I got u scared n I ain't even there I ain't gon get u there.. .
Um gon get u in kept.

Ex. 349, pg. 4. This text message exchange was relevant, admissible

evidence to prove Miller's premeditation.s The trial court did not abuse its

discretion in allowing the evidence.

In sum, the trial court properly determined that Patricelli's out-of-

court statements were relevant to show the full dynamics of her

dysfunctional and acrimonious relationship with Miller, and was logically

relevant to the issue of premeditation. While Miller may not agree with

the trial court's decision, he cannot show that "no reasonable judge would

have made the same ruling," the standard he must meet on appeal. State v.

Ohlson, 162 Wn.2d 1, 8, 168 P.3d 1273 (2007).

Finally, Miller claims that even if Patricelli's state of mind was

relevant, the portions of her statements describing his actions which

caused her fear were still inadmissible. Brf. of App. at 18. However,

Miller ignores the fact that all of his actions that were referred to in

Patricelli's statements were properly admitted by the court, either as

5 Even if the court did not specifically indicate that the test message was admissible as
res gestae of the crane, it noted that it was sent within 12 hours of Patricelli's death,
12/9/13RP 5, and the court would have been justified in fording it admissible on that
basis. See State v. Powell, 126 Wn.2d 244, 263, 893 P.2d 615, 626 (1995) (evidence
regarding events or statements that were made involving either the victim or defendant
within the 48 hours preceding the murder were relevant and necessary to establish that
the hostilities between them continued until the murder).
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ER 404(b) evidence to prove his intent and premeditation, or as ~°es gestae

of the crime itself. CP 417-21; ll/20/13RP 51-59; 12/4/13RP 88-91. See

also 11/20/13RP 27 (Miller stated he had no objection to the admissibility

of any of his actions from the date of his release from incarceration until

the date of the homicide, and indicated that he believed it was properly

admitted as res gestae of the crime). Miller did not assign error to the

court's ER 404(b) ruling. Patricelli's statements should not have been

excluded on the basis that they improperly referred to Miller's behavior.

d. Any Error Was Harmless.

Even if this Court concludes that one or more of Patricelli's

statements should not have been admitted, any error was harmless. The

statements were of minor significance in light of the evidence as a whole,

and there was overwhelming evidence of Miller's premeditation.

Evidentiary error is grounds for reversal only if "within reasonable

probabilities, had the error not occurred, the outcome of the trial would

have been materially affected." State v. Smith, 106 Wn.2d 772, 780, 725

P.2d 951 (1986). The improper admission of evidence constitutes

harmless error when the evidence is of minor significance in reference to

the evidence as a whole. State v. Neal, 144 Wn.2d 600, 611, 30 P.3d 1255

(2001).
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Identity was not at issue in this case. Miller admitted to the jury

that he intentionally murdered Patricelli and contested only the State's

proof of premeditation. Due to the court's ER 404(b) ruling, the jury

already knew that Miller had been abusive and threatening to Patricelli.

The question is whether Patricelli's statements were so prejudicial that

there is a reasonable likelihood that the outcome of trial would have been

different had they been excluded. There is no probability of that.

First, the most prejudicial of the statements complained of —that

Patricelli feared Miller —was of minor significance compared to the other

properly admitted evidence of her fear. Evidence was presented to the

jury that Miller assaulted and threatened to kill Patricelli in December of

2011. 12/5/13RP 169-70, 176. Her 911 call pertaining to that incident

was played for the jury, during which a hysterical Patricelli can be heard

shrieking that Miller had just punched her in the face in front of her

children, and that "he's gonna fuckin' kill me." Ex. 278A. The terror in

her voice is evident. Id.

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